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12:30   Proposed Local Rule 87  

Kristine Seufert, Staff Attorney and Pro Bono Coordinator, S.D. of Indiana 
 
12:45 Initial Action & First Steps - You’ve been appointed to represent a prisoner in a pro 
se action. What next? 

- Read the Order of Appointment carefully 
o Note name of prisoner and case number 
o Scope of representation 

- Obtain: 
o The pro se Complaint 
o The docket sheet 
o Any critical orders and adversary pleadings, if any;  
o The Court’s 28 U.S.C. § 1915A (screening) order, if any.  

- 28 USC § 1915A - The Court’s mechanism for review of pro se complaints.   
o The court shall review, before docketing, if feasible or, in any event, as soon 

as practicable after docketing, a complaint in a civil action in which a prisoner 
seeks redress from a governmental entity or officer or employee of a 
governmental entity. 

(b)GROUNDS FOR DISMISSAL.—On review, the court shall identify cognizable 
claims or dismiss the complaint, or any portion of the complaint, if the 
complaint— 

(1) is frivolous, malicious, or fails to state a claim upon which relief may 
be granted; or 
(2) seeks monetary relief from a defendant who is immune from such 
relief. 

o The 1915A Order: (See samples, Appendix 1, attached) 
 May contain:  

• That a cause of action has been properly alleged; 
• What causes of action or parties have been dismissed; 
• Whether the complaint has been dismissed, but not the action; 

and that appointed counsel has a set period of time to do FRCP 
11 due diligence and file an amended complaint if appropriate; 

• Arrangement of narrative pro se allegations into counts;  
 
 

 

http://www.ilnd.courts.gov/
http://www.illinoislegaladvocate.org/
mailto:jamespchapman@aol.com


Establishing a Sound Relationship with the Client  
- Determine where your client is located 

o If in prison operated by Indiana Department of Corrections, check the IN 
DOC’s website – www.in.gov/idoc  

o If in federal custody, check BOP website – www.bop.gov 
o County Jails typically searchable by County website or Sheriff’s Office 

website 
- Write to client immediately 

o Inform him you are reviewing his complaint, doing other/additional 
investigation, and plan to see him on ___ date, 2016.  

o Double check the applicable website to determine client’s registration number.  
o Envelope should include: 

 Client’s correct name and IDOC/BOP identification number; 
 The prison’s address for inmate mail; 
 “Confidential attorney-client communication” 
 Your name as it is stated on the Roll of Attorneys website. The prison 

will check your registration  
o Consider a client retention letter (Appendix 2)  

 The form attached raises, among other matters, the following points: 
• The scope of your services; 
• How long your services will continue 
• Other associates in the firm may assist, but you remain in 

charge 
• Your responsibilities as the appointed lawyer 
• You will obtain the client’s approval for important decisions 
• You will keep client informed of case progress; 
• Policy on telephone calls; 
• Client’s responsibilities; 
• Fee agreement if appropriate. Keep track of time; court 

approval required. (No attorney fees may be sought if the 
appointment is for the limited purpose of assisting with 
settlement). 

- Other Considerations: 
o Keep in mind the client is imprisoned; lack of resources, lack of access, and 

difficult to communicate with you 
o Get client’s materials and thoughts on the matter 
o Be affirmative in analyses and recommendations, keeping in mind the client 

has the last word (within ethical bounds) 
o Pay attention – The S.D. of Indiana is not aware of any pro bono attorney 

recruited by the court to represent a prisoner in a civil case that has faced a 
disciplinary or malpractice action. That said, prisoners know how to complain 
to disciplinary commission. 

- Visit the client as soon as possible 
o Determine where the client is (again) – prisoners are transferred frequently 
o Contact the prison or jail’s legal liaison or coordinator 

 When can you visit 

http://www.in.gov/idoc
http://www.bop.gov/


 What must you submit, if anything, in order to visit 
 What can you bring with you 
 Do not bring laptop, cell phone 

o Write your client and inform him/her you’re coming  
 Advise client what documents to bring to visit, esp. grievances (see 

section on Exhaustion of Administrative Remedies below), and all 
other documents 

o Determine if client is in segregation; alters nature of visit 
o Bring state ID and bar card 
o If client in prison 150 miles or more from home or office, consider travel time 

 Inquire as to how early you may visit 
 Inquire about possible video conference with client as alternative to in 

person visit 
o Telephone call to client 

 Discuss procedure with legal liaison 
 Make sure call is secure 

 
2:00 Break 
 
2:15  Exhaustion of Administrative Remedies – Deal with First!!!! 

- The Prison Litigation Reform Act (PLRA) 42 U.S.C. § 1997e: 
o (a) Applicability of administrative remedies. No action shall be brought with 

respect to prison conditions under section 1983 of this title, or any other 
Federal law, by a prisoner confined in any jail, prison, or other correctional 
facility until such administrative remedies as are available are exhausted. 

- Administrative regulations regarding grievance procedure: 
o BOP – 28 C.F.R. § 542.10; et seq. 
o IN DOC – Ind. Code § 11-11-1 (Commissioner shall implement a 

departmental procedure).  
- PLRA means what it says: See Pavey v. Conley, 544 F.3d 739 (7th Cir. 2008) 

o Applies even if administrative process cannot give relief prisoner seeks ($) 
o Affirmative defense that can be waived 
o Exhaustion must occur before suit is filed, cannot occur after  
o If no exhaustion or excuse for no exhaustion, then court must dismiss without 

prejudice (unless no way exhaustion could ever occur) 
o There is “wiggle room” despite prisoner’s lack of strict compliance 

 Note: for excellent analysis and unlimited citations, see “The Prison 
Litigation Reform Act” by John Boston 

 www.illinoislegaladvocate.org/uploads/8032theplra0312.pdf 
• Do NOT print – very long 

o Court must resolve exhaustion issue, if raised, before any other aspect of case 
proceeds;  
 Hearing before the trial judge, not a jury 

- In the S.D. of Indiana  
o The defendant must raise this affirmative defense in Answer.  

http://www.illinoislegaladvocate.org/uploads/8032theplra0312.pdf


o When this happens, the court sets a schedule to resolve this defense through 
summary judgment.  

o If there is a material fact in dispute the judge will hold a hearing.   
o Counsel is often sought for the limited purpose of resolving this affirmative 

defense.  
o In defending against such a claim: 

 Although failure to exhaust is an affirmative defense, start preparing 
immediately 

 See if pro se complaint contains grievance materials as exhibits or if 
client has made allegations about his attempts to grieve 

 Obtain from client all materials on grievances/exhaustion 
 If defendant’s answer raises failure to exhaust, ask opposing counsel if 

definitely pursuing; if not, ask that defense be withdrawn, esp. when 
documents indicate exhaustion has occurred 

 If defendant does pursue this defense, the court will likely sua sponte 
stay all other proceedings until the exhaustion issue is resolved.  
 

The Amended Complaint 
- Once 1915A order is issued and exhaustion issue examined, determine whether an 

Amended Complaint should be filed.  
- Considerations: 

o The pro se complaint is verbose, disorganized, difficult to follow;  
o The trial judge has directed you to file an amended complaint  

 (after performing FRCP 11 due diligence and concluding claim is 
viable);  

o The trial judge in the 29 U.S.C. § 1915A order has dismissed certain pro se 
claims and you agree with the dismissal; 

o Your investigation has unearthed causes of action not present in the pro se 
complaint;  

o The pro se complaint names improper parties or parties you have determined 
are not responsible under applicable civil rights provisions 

- What claims should I include in the Amended Complaint? Keep it simple! 
o Causes of action are based on the U.S. Constitution, its amendments, and 

applicable federal statues (like the ADA), not U.S.C. § 1983 
 42 U.S.C. § 1983 is the basis of federal court jurisdiction, not a cause 

of action: 
• “Every person who, under color of any statute, ordinance, 

regulation, custom, or usage, of any State or Territory or the 
District of Columbia, subjects, or causes to be subjected, any 
citizen of the United States or other person within the 
jurisdiction thereof to the deprivation of any rights, privileges, 
or immunities secured by the Constitution and laws, shall be 
liable to the party injured in an action at law, suit in equity…” 

 See also 42 U.S.C. § 1331: “The district courts shall have original 
jurisdiction of all civil actions arising under the Constitution . . . of the 
United States.” 



o Supplemental jurisdiction allows claims that could not have entered federal 
court on their own to be heard by a federal court if they are part of a case over 
which the court has subject matter jurisdiction. For example, if a correctional 
officer assaults a prisoner, this conduct could violate the Eighth Amendment 
and in state law (battery) which the federal court would normally have no 
jurisdiction to hear.   

o Consider statutes like the ADA and the Rehabilitation Act 
 

o Eighth Amendment: 
 Excessive bail shall not be required, nor excessive fines imposed, 

…nor cruel and unusual punishments inflicted; i.e. assaults, medical 
claims 

• Available after client has been sentenced 
o Fourteenth Amendment: 

 No state shall make or enforce any law which shall abridge the 
privileges or immunities of citizens of the US; nor shall any state 
deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of 
law; nor deny to any person within its jurisdiction the equal protection 
of the laws.  

• A jail (county or city), that is, pre-trial detainees (assaults, 
medical, access to law claims), same substantive rules as 8th 
amendment claims 

• Penitentiary and jail: access to law, improper hearings, etc. 
o First Amendment:  

 Congress shall make no law respecting an establishment of religion, or 
prohibiting the free exercise thereof; or abridging the freedom of 
speech, or of the press; or the right of the people peaceably to 
assemble, and to petition the Government for a redress of grievances.  

• Penitentiary – religion, retaliation, speech, etc.  
- Remember: 

o  Requirement of physical injury to recover money damages for emotional pain 
or suffering is necessary under the PLRA. 
 Broken bones, bleeding not always necessary. See recent cases. (Seek 

expert testimony) 
o The Statute of Limitations – Move quickly!!! 

 Two years, no relation back; 
 See discovery rule (state law) in medical cases; 
 Case might be considered mailed (filed) when given to prison officer. 

Jones v. Bertrand, 171 F.3d 499, 501 (7th Cir.)(the mail box rule 
applies to time of filings grievances, etc.) 

 When applying Illinois law, the statute of limitations is tolled while an 
administrative appeal is pending. Johnson v. Rivera, 272 F3d 519 (7th 
Cir. 2001). There is no similar provision under Indiana law. 

- Proper Parties in Amended Complaint 
o Improper Parties (most of the time) 

 The State of Indiana 



 The Indiana DOC 
 Correctional centers 
 County jails 
 Hospitals in jails 
 Director of the IN DOC 
 Superintendent (warden) of jail 
 Warden of prison 
 A county 

o Whether a defendant can be sued is a question of State, not federal law 
 The State of Indiana is immune from suit 
 Judicial immunity – possibly exists for members of Prisoner Review 

Board, grievance, discipline hearing officials 
• See Trotter v. Klincar, 778 F.2d 1177, 1180 (7th Cir. 1984) 

o Should I name prison staff in their official v. individual capacities, or both? 
 Claim against an official is a claim against the entity that employs him. 

Kentucky v. Graham, 473 U.S. 159, 165 (1985) 
• Money damages: individual capacity 
• Injunctive relief: official capacity 

 If sue private individuals, consider whether public employee or private 
service provider; consider including a county or city as nominal party 
defendant for collection purposes 

- Can I and do I want to sue a county, a municipal corporation, or a city or town that 
operated the jail where plaintiff was harmed in addition to their own employees? 

o Remember: these entities normally not liable for acts of employees. 
o The Monell doctrine – Monell v. New York City, 436 U.S. 658, 694 (1978); 

See Los Angeles County v. Humphries, 131 U.S. 447 (2010) for detailed 
explanation and Seventh Circuit civil instructions 
 Required proof is much broader: the existence of a policy or practice 

that was the proximate cause of plaintiff’s injuries 
- What about private providers under contract to the IDOC in addition to their 

employees? Ex. Medical providers and food  
o Same proof requirement as cities and counties. But see Shields v. Illinois 

Department of Correction, 746 F.3d 782, 790 (7th Cir. 2014) (finding 
“substantial grounds to question the extension of the Monell holding for 
municipalities to private corporations”). 

o Be sure to track Court’s 1915A order if upholds pro se complaint as stating a 
cause of action. These instructions also are a guide to the proof you will 
require to sustain your cause of action.  

o Requirements for Liability of Individual Defendants: 
 Must have personal involvement – a constant principle  
 May be sin of either commission (i.e. an assault) or omission (i.e. a 

knowing failure to intervene when wrongful conduct by officer or 
other prisoner observed or knowing failure to provide medical care 
where prisoner’s serious medical condition observed) 

 No respondeat superior liability  
- How to determine who is a proper party  



o Keep in mind, prisoners have difficulty identifying correct names of 
correctional personnel and other prisoners 
 Example: the Dorn case; 15-359? WD Mich 
 Rule 15: adding a party after statute has run is very difficult 
 Prisoners often have nicknames; real names unknown 

o Sources to determine who should be defendants 
 Disciplinary Report – See Appendix 3 
 Offenders Grievance – See Appendix 4 
 Incident reports  
 Internal Affairs Investigation  
 Sign-in logs  
 Medical Records  

• The Indiana Department of Corrections 
• Marion County Jail 
• Private hospitals where prison or jail sends prisoner for 

treatment (Regional in Terre Haute) 
• Private health providers – i.e., Corizon 

 Other providers – Aramark (provides Kosher meals) 
 Daily logs or print-outs of prison or jail – show where prisoners are 

celled and personnel assigned 
 Pictures of personnel 
 Deposition of key personnel – esp. pursuant to FRCP30(b)(6) 

o Procedural methods to learn identity of proper parties  
 Opposing counsel (occasionally) 

• If substantial difficulty, especially where plaintiff has named 
only very high ranking officers, move the Court for leave to do 
discovery prior to filing the amended complaint, naming the 
warden, for example, as a nominal party plaintiff for purposes 
of discovery 

 Formal discovery 
• Distinction between IDOC and individual officers; in most 

instances IDOC and County (jail) are not a party. Attorney 
General appears for individuals, not prison or jail.  

• Same is true for hospitals; insurance attorneys appear for 
individual medical staff, not hospital itself 

• FOIA requests and written consents very slow and often 
unsatisfactory 

 FRCP 34: requests for production of documents (to parties only) 
 FRCP 45: subpoena for persons and documents and access to premises 

(same scope as R. 34, run to non-parties) 
 Rule 30(b)(6): notice of deposition; requires party to produce 

individual(s) and documents that relate to stated subject matter. See 
App. 9. Rule states: 

• Notice or Subpoena Directed to an Organization. In its notice 
or subpoena, a party may name as the deponent a public or 
corp, a partnership, an assoc., a government agency, or other 



entity and must describe with reasonable particularity the 
matters for examination. The named organization must then 
designate one or more officers, directors, or managing agents, 
or designate other persons who consent to testify on its behalf; 
and it may set out the matters on which each person designated 
will testify. A subpoena must advise a nonparty organization of 
its duty to make this designation. The persons designated must 
testify about information known or reasonably available to the 
organization. This paragraph does not preclude a deposition by 
any other procedure allowed by these rules.  

• FRCP 45 subpoena requires a non-party to do the same.  
o Great time and expense saver – puts burden of 

identification on prison, jail, hospital, etc. The rule can 
be used to identify additional defendants, names on 
medical records where unreadable; who in organization 
has knowledge of facts – i.e. policies and practices.  

 Qualified professional – especially to help read medical records, 
identify individual providers mentioned in records  

- Form and Content of Amended Complaint 
o Torts 101: duty, breach of duty, proximate cause, damages.  The source of 

duty is normally found in Amendments (Bill of Rights) to the U.S. 
Constitution and Federal statutes. 

o Factual specificity – enhanced U.S. Supreme Court requirements 
 Must allege enough facts to show likelihood of ability to prove cause 

of action. Read Bell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 554 (2007) 
 Use the seventh circuit pattern instructions, if available, to determine 

the necessary allegations for your amended complaint, but be careful. 
For example: 

 Seventh Circuit Pattern Instruction #7.11 failure to protect: 
• (1) Describe who the attackers were and what they did e.g., hit, 

kicked, or struck the plaintiff; (2) defendant was deliberately 
indifferent to the substantial risk of that such an attack; (3) 
defendant’s conduct caused harm to plaintiff; (4) defendant 
acted under color of law.  

 Suggestion – while para. 1, if completed, is factually sufficient as an 
allegation, para. 2 is not; allege facts which demonstrate how 
defendant knew there was a substantial risk of an attack on plaintiff 

 
3:30  Break 
 
3:45  Serving the Defendants 

- Determine status of service when you are appointed.  
- The S.D. of Indiana takes seriously its obligation under Rule 4(c)(3) of the Federal 

Rules of Civil Procedure to assist plaintiffs authorized to proceed in forma pauperis 
with effecting service on the defendants. The Court regularly relies on the Federal 
Rule 4(d) waiver of service provisions. 



- It would be unusual in the S.D. of Indiana for counsel to be appointed prior to at least 
one defendant appearing in the case and filing an answer to the complaint.  

- If after you are appointed you determine that an individual has not been served (that 
should have been served – i.e., they were not dismissed at screening) you should 
notify the court.  
 

Starting discovery  
- Sequence 
- Talking to inmate witnesses 
- Fed. Rule 26: oral depositions – how format might differ from our private cases 

o All officers or other witnesses noted in records or on defendant’s witness 
lists? 

o Use your judgment – witness may already be committed in report, etc.  
o Video conferencing to save travel 
o Telephone depositions 
o Do I need a transcript of every deposition? 

- Documents 
- Interrogatories 
- Visiting the scene: Fed. Rules 34, 45 
- Requests to admit 

 
Additional Causes of Action: 

- Excessive Force 
o Post conviction: plaintiff must prove the following by a preponderance: 

 (1)Defendant used force on plaintiff; 
 (2)Defendant intentionally used extreme or excessive cruelty toward 

plaintiff for the purpose of harming him, and not in a good faith effort 
to maintain or restore security or discipline;  

 (3)Defendant’s conduct caused harm to plaintiff; 
 (4)Defendant acted under color of law 

• In deciding whether plaintiff has proved that defendant 
intentionally used extreme or excessive cruelty toward 
plaintiff, you may consider such factors as:  

o The need to use force 
o The relationship between the need to use force and the 

amount of force used; 
o The extent of plaintiff’s injury; 
o Whether defendant reasonably believed there was a 

threat to the safety of staff or prisoners; 
o Any efforts made by defendant to limit the amount of 

force used.  
o Arrestee or pretrial detainee 

 Kingsley v. Hendrickson, 135 U.S. 1039 (2015) 
• The appropriate standard is objective, not subjective, for 

plaintiff pretrial detainee to prove that an officer used 
excessive force.  The appropriate analysis focuses on “the 



perspective of a reasonable officer on the scene, including what 
the officer knew at the time, not with the 20/20 vision of 
hindsight.” The objective inquiry must also take full 
consideration of the jail’s need for “internal order and 
discipline.” 

• Range of non-exhaustive considerations relevant to the 
objective inquiry, including: “the relationship between the need 
for the use of force and the amount of force used; the extent of 
the plaintiff’s injury; any effort made by the officer to temper 
or limit the amount of force; the severity of the security 
problem at issue; the threat reasonably perceived by the officer; 
and whether the plaintiff was actively resisting.” 

• “The Due Process Clause protects a pretrial detainee from the 
use of excessive force that amounts to punishment” but “in the 
absence of an expressed intent to punish, a pretrial detainee can 
nevertheless prevail by showing that the actions are not 
‘rationally related to a legitimate non-punitive governmental 
purpose’ or that the actions ‘appear excessive in relation to that 
purpose.’” Thus, “a pretrial detainee can prevail by providing 
only objective evidence that the challenged governmental 
action is not rationally related to a legitimate governmental 
objective or that it is excessive in relation to that purpose.” 

 7th Circuit Model Instruction 7.08 Fourth Amendment/Fourteenth 
Amendment – excessive force against arrestee or pretrial detainee –  

• Plaintiff must prove by a preponderance of the evidence: 
o Defendant used unreasonable force against Plaintiff; 
o Because of Defendant’s unreasonable force, plaintiff 

was harmed; 
o Defendant acted under color of law.  

- Access to Courts 
o 7th Cir. Model Instruction 8.02 Denial of Prisoner’s Access to Court 
o To succeed in a claim of denial of access to court, plaintiff must prove each of 

the following things by a preponderance of the evidence. 
 Defendant intentionally did at least one of the following things: 

[describe conduct]; 
 Defendant acted “under color of law” (a person performs, or claims to 

perform, official duties under any state, county, or municipal law, 
ordinance, or regulation); 

 Defendant’s conduct hindered plaintiff’s efforts to pursue a legal 
claim; 

 The case which plaintiff wanted to bring to court was not frivolous. (A 
claim is frivolous if it is so trivial that there is no chance it would 
succeed in court or be settled out of court after it was field);  

 Plaintiff was harmed by defendant’s conduct. 
• Committee Comment: Judges should include the parenthetical 

material concerning whether Plaintiff’s claim was frivolous 



only if this presents a factual issue in the case. See Lewis v. 
Casey, 518 U.S. 343, 353 (1996); Thompson v. Washington, 
362 F.3d 969, 970 (7th Cir. 2004)(“If your legal papers are 
confiscated in a doomed proceeding, there is no harm and no 
basis for a constitutional suit . . . even though there is always a 
chance that the court would have ruled erroneously in your 
favor.”) Cf. Walters v. Edgar, 163 F.3d 430, 433 (7th Cir. 
1988)(“probabilistic” harm, which is nontrivial, will support 
standing for prospective injunctive relief).  

- First Amendment 
o See Turner v. Safely, 472 U.S. 78 (1987).  A “reasonableness test” will 

determine if a prison/jail denied a prisoner First Amendment Rights to 
published and similar materials. But the 7th Circuit has been increasingly 
deferential to the decisions of prison officials.  In Unson v. Gaetz, 673 F.3d 
630 (7th Cir. 2012), the court ruled IL prison officials did not violate 1st Am. 
when they denied an inmate two medical books about drugs. Broad range of 
deference is given to prison officials in making these types of reading-material 
decisions.  

o Prisoners have 1st Am. rights, but only those rights which are consistent with 
the legitimate objectives of prison officials. Pell v. Procunier, 417 U.S. 817, 
822 (1974)(“A prison inmate retains those First Amendment rights that are not 
inconsistent with his status as a prisoner or with the legitimate penological 
objectives of the corrective system.”). Prisoners have a first amendment right 
to alert others about a prison official’s misconduct, but they must do so in an 
appropriate way to the appropriate audience.  For example, a prisoner has no 
1st am right to speak to a prison employee in a “confrontational, disorderly 
manner.” Watkins v. Kasper, 599 F3d 791, 797-98 (7th Cir. 2010); Holleman 
v. Penfold, 501 Fed.Appx. 577, 2013 WL 647313 (7th Cir. 2013)(prisoner’s 
confrontational refusal to obey lock up order as a protest to short meal time 
was not a First Amendment protected activity). A prisoner has no First 
Amendment right to use insulting, threatening, or false language, even if 
couched in a prison grievance or letter. See e.g., Hale v. Scott, 371 F.3d 917 
(7th Cir. 2004)(inmate had no protected 1st Am. right to state libelous rumor 
in grievance that officer was engaging in sexual misconduct); Felton v. 
Huibregtse, 2013 WL 2249536 (7th Cir. 2013)(inmate’s letter to warden 
outside of grievance process stating “any idiot could see” was not protected 
speech). A prisoner has no 1st Am right to challenge prison conditions in a 
manner which creates security risks, such as circulating a petition. See May v. 
Libby, 256 Fed.Appx. 825, 829 (7th Cir. 2007)(banning petitions to maintain 
control over group activity by prisoners is a reasonable response to a 
legitimate penological concern). 

- Failure to Provide Medical Care (See separate seminar outline on Medical Claims) 
o 7th Circuit Pattern Instruction 7.12 Failure to Provide Medical Attention  

 Plaintiff must prove each of the following things by a preponderance:  
• Plaintiff had a serious medical need; 



• Defendant was deliberately indifferent to Plaintiff’s serious 
medical need; 

• Defendant’s conduct caused harm to Plaintiff;  
• Defendant acted under color of law 

o Pattern Instruction 7.13 Definition of Serious Medical Need 
 When I use the term serious medical need, I mean a condition that a 

doctor says requires treatment, or something so obvious that even 
someone who is not a doctor would recognize as requiring treatment. 
In deciding whether a medical need is serious, you should consider the 
following factors: 

• The severity of the condition;  
• The harm [including pain and suffering] that could result from 

a lack of medical care;  
• Whether providing treatment was feasible; and 
• The actual harm caused by the lack of medical care 

o Pattern instruction 7.14 Definition of Deliberately Indifferent 
 Defendant actually knew of a substantial risk of [serious harm] or 

[describe specific harm to plaintiff’s health or safety], and defendant 
consciously disregarded this risk by failing to take reasonable 
measures. If defendant took reasonable measures to respond to a risk, 
then he was not deliberately indifferent, even if plaintiff was 
ultimately harmed. 

o Bad medical care: some care does not necessarily defeat claims Snipes v. 
DeTella, 95 F.3d 586, 592 (7th Cir. 1996) 

o More than negligence: Estate of Cole v. Fromm, 94 F.3d 254, 261 (7th Cir. 
1996) 
 Negligence – failure to provide care that a reasonably careful 

physician would provide 
 Then build to reckless disregard (8th or 14th Amendment)  
 Circumstantial evidence –can be used to establish subjective 

awareness and deliberate indifference. Thomas v. Cook County, 588 
F.3d 445, 452-3 (7th Cir. 2009) 

 Obtain medical records of client 
• Rules 34, 45; 
• IDOC releases – contact prison legal coordinator for current 

form; separate form for mental health records; 
• Note: there may be private hospitals as well.  

o Learn about the medical issues yourself 
 The client – get his records and discuss his situation with him; 
 Hospital/medical records 
 County jail 
 Private hospital 
 Internet 
 Treatises 
 Consultant 

o Necessity of retained expert – do you really need one? 



 How can you develop necessary proof without a retained expert? 
 In many instances defendant medical caregiver or other type of 

defendant will not deny standard of care or knowledge of the standard. 
There will be confession and avoidance. For example: 

• I did not see the patient; 
• The patient refused care; 
• The wrong decision was made by another caregiver 

 You can develop the standard of care or conduct in several different 
ways without a retained expert: 

• Examine the federal rules of evidence for short cuts that are 
inexpensive 

o Adverse examination of defendant (Rule 611c); 
 Ask leading questions. For example, would 

patient’s condition be an adequate cause of 
pain? If untreated, would condition become 
permanent? 

o Use of learned treatises; Rule 803(18) 
o Public reports and records; Rule 803(8) 
o Judicial notice; Rule 201 

• Hospital records, especially outside of prison or jail often will 
contain orders, directions that prison/jail does not follow;  

• Policies and protocols of IDOC and hospital 
o If you need one, how do you get one? 

 Look to sources around you: 
• Your own doctors, at least for recommendations; 
• Other members of your firm; 
• You firm’s clients 
• Local hospitals 
• Online 
 

Summary Judgment by Defendants 
- Keep in mind constantly and from the beginning: 

o Federal Court’s local rules, 
o Duty of non-movant: must produce admissible evidence. Cannot rely on 

unverified complaint. Celotex . Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 322 (1986) 
o Affidavits – start planning ahead 
 

Settlement 
- Timing 
- Nature of defendant (IDOC employee v. private medical or other provider 

w/insurance v. city or county) 
- Amount  
- Nature of release – contact Jim Chapman for a form with commentary 
 
 
 



Reimbursement of expenses- prepayment 
 Proposed Local Rule 87 allows counsel to seek reimbursement and prepayment of 
expenses. This process may be further developed in a General Order. 
 
 Current Local Rule 4-6 allows for reimbursement of costs under certain circumstances. 
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Entry Discussing Amended Complaint and Directing Further Proceedings 

 Before the Court is Plaintiff Raymond Strominger’s (“Strominger”) Amended Complaint 

which is subject to screening pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1915A(b).   Strominger uses a wheelchair 

and is currently incarcerated at the Pendleton Correctional Facility. He has sued the Indiana 

Department of Corrections (“DOC”) and seven employees claiming violations of the 

Rehabilitation Act (“RA”), 29 U.S.C. §§ 794–94e, the Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”), 

42 U.S.C. §§ 12111–213, and the Eighth Amendment.  For the reasons explained below, certain 

claims are dismissed while other claims shall proceed.  

I.  Standard of Review 

Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1915A(b), “[a] complaint is subject to dismissal for failure to state 

a claim if the allegations, taken as true, show that plaintiff is not entitled to relief.” Jones v. Bock, 

549 U.S. 199, 215 (2007). To satisfy the notice-pleading standard of Rule 8 of the Federal Rules 



of Civil Procedure, a complaint must provide a “short and plain statement of the claim showing 

that the pleader is entitled to relief,” which is sufficient to provide the defendant with “fair notice” 

of the claim and its basis. Erickson v. Pardus, 551 U.S. 89, 93 (2007) (per curiam) (citing Bell Atl. 

Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 555 (2007) and quoting Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(a)(2)). To survive a 

motion to dismiss, the complaint “must contain sufficient factual matter, accepted as true, to state 

a claim to relief that is plausible on its face. . . . A claim has facial plausibility when the plaintiff 

pleads factual content that allows the court to draw the reasonable inference that the defendant is 

liable for the misconduct alleged.” Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 129 S. Ct. 1937, 1949 (2009) (quotations 

omitted). Pro se complaints such as that filed by Strominger, are construed liberally and held to a 

less stringent standard than formal pleadings drafted by lawyers. Erickson, 551 U.S. at 94; 

Obriecht v. Raemisch, 517 F.3d 489, 491 n.2 (7th Cir. 2008). 

II.  Amended Complaint 

The Amended Complaint alleges that on May 26, 2015, Strominger was transported in a 

non-wheelchair accessible van. He told the defendants that the use of a non-wheelchair accessible 

van was inappropriate. Strominger’s need to be transported in a wheelchair accessible van was 

well documented. When he was unable to get himself into the van, Sgt. Wilson ordered Sgt. Cobb, 

Officer Harris, and two John Doe officers to put Strominger into the van. When he complained 

and asked to speak with a supervisor, Sgt. Wilson stated that she was following Major Russell’s 

instructions.  

While getting Strominger into the van, Sgt. Cobb, Officer Harris, and the two unnamed 

officers allegedly used excessive force causing extreme pain in Strominger’s wrists, shoulders, 

and chest. Strominger alleges that not providing him transportation in a wheelchair accessible van 

violated his right to reasonable accommodations under the ADA and RA. He also alleges that the 



individual officers subjected him to excessive use of physical force in violation of his Eighth 

Amendment rights.   

III. Discussion of Claims 

Applying the standard set forth above to the allegations in the Amended Complaint certain 

claims must be dismissed while other claims shall proceed as submitted.  

 A.  Official Capacity Claims 

The claims against the individual defendants in their official capacities are dismissed. A 

claim against the individual defendants in their official capacities is really a claim against the DOC. 

See Jaros, 684 F.3d at fn.2. And the DOC is already a defendant in this action. 

B. Statutory Claims 

 The statutory claims against the individual defendants are dismissed. To the extent the 

individual defendants are named in the ADA and Rehabilitation Act claims those claims are 

dismissed. Employees of the DOC are not amenable to suit under the Rehabilitation Act or the 

ADA. See Jaros v. Illinois Dept. of Corrections, 684 F.3d 667, 670 (7th Cir. 2012) (citing 29 

U.S.C. § 794(b); 42 U.S.C. § 12131; Foley v. City of Lafayette, 359 F.3d 925, 928 (7th Cir. 2004); 

Garcia v. S.U.N.Y. Health Scis. Ctr. of Brooklyn, 280 F.3d 98, 107 (2d Cir. 2001) (collecting 

authority)). Accordingly, the ADA and Rehabilitation Act claims against the individual defendants 

in their individual capacities are dismissed. 

 The ADA claims are dismissed. The relief provided by the ADA and Rehabilitation Act 

is coextensive and a plaintiff suing under both statutes may have only one recovery. Jaros, 684 

F.3d at 671 (citing Duran v. Town of Cicero, Ill., 653 F.3d 632, 639 (7th Cir. 2011) (plaintiffs may 

have but one recovery); Calero–Cerezo v. United States Dep't of Justice, 355 F.3d 6, 11 n. 1 (1st 

Cir. 2004) (dismissal of ADA claim had no effect on scope of remedy because Rehabilitation Act 



claim remained)). In addition, “the analysis governing each statute is the same except that the 

Rehabilitation Act includes as an additional element the receipt of federal funds, which all states 

accept for their prisons.” Id. For these reasons the ADA claims (and their associated question of 

sovereign immunity) are summarily dismissed.  Id.  

C. Constitutional Claims 

Strominger raises two constitutional claims against the individual defendants pursuant to 

42 U.S.C. § 1983. The first inquiry in every § 1983 case is whether there has been the deprivation 

of a right secured by the Constitution or laws of the United States, for without a predicate 

constitutional violation one cannot make out a prima facie case under § 1983.  Juriss v. McGowan, 

957 F.2d 345, 349 n.1 (7th Cir. 1992).  

Strominger alleges that the individual defendants used excessive force when loading 

Strominger into a van that was not wheelchair accessible. These allegations implicate the Eighth 

Amendment. To the extent Strominger makes a due process and equal protection claim asserted 

pursuant to the Fourteenth Amendment these claims are dismissed. Strominger’s claims are 

sufficiently based on the protections afforded by the Eighth Amendment to the Constitution. There 

is no occasion to invoke the important but limited protections of due process and equal protection. 

Albright v. Oliver, 510 U.S. 266, 273 (1994) (“Where a particular Amendment provides an explicit 

textual source of constitutional protection against a particular sort of government behavior, that 

Amendment, not the more generalized notion of substantive due process, must be the guide for 

analyzing such a claim.”) (plurality opinion of Rehnquist, C.J.) (internal quotations omitted). 

Any constitutional tort claim against the DOC cannot proceed because the department, 

which is an arm of the State of Indiana, is not a person subject to suit pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

See Will v. Mich. Dep’t of State Police, 491 U.S. 58, 71 (1989) (holding that “neither a State nor 



its officials acting in their official capacities are “persons” under § 1983”). See also Greenawalt v. 

Ind. Dep’t of Corr., 397 F.3d 587, (7th Cir. 2005) (affirming the district court’s dismissal against 

DOC because it was not a person subject to suit under § 1983). Thus as a matter of law, Strominger 

is limited to bringing his Eighth Amendment claims for money damages against the named officers 

in their individual capacities. 

The constitutional torts alleged against Lt. C. Nicholson are dismissed. The only allegation 

against this defendant is that he knew a wheelchair accessible van was needed to transport 

Strominger and that the accessible van was not provided. But there is no allegation which suggests 

that Lt. Nicholson was present at the time or even knew that a wheelchair accessible was not being 

provided. Instead the allegations reflect that defendant Sgt. Wilson was acting under Major 

Russell’s direction. In other words, there is no plausible basis for concluding that these supervisory 

defendants caused or participated in the alleged constitutional deprivation. See Wolf-Lillie v. 

Sonquist, 699 F.2d 864, 869 (7th Cir. 1983); Johnson v. Snyder, 444 F.3d 579, 583-84 (7th Cir. 

2006). The clerk is directed to terminate Lt. Nicholson as a defendant on the docket.  

The claims alleged against Officer John Doe # 1 and Officer John Doe # 2 are dismissed 

for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted because “it is pointless to include [an] 

anonymous defendant [ ] in federal court; this type of placeholder does not open the door to relation 

back under Fed.R.Civ.P. 15, nor can it otherwise help the plaintiff.” Wudtke v. Davel, 128 F.3d 

1057, 1060 (7th Cir. 1997) (internal citations omitted). Bringing suit against unnamed, or “John 

Doe,” defendants in federal court is generally disfavored by the Seventh Circuit. If through 

discovery, Strominger is able to learn the name of the unknown defendants, he may seek leave to 

add a claim against them. The clerk is directed to terminate the John Does as defendants on the 

docket.  



III. Remaining Claims 

 The claim against the DOC brought under the Rehabilitation Act shall proceed. This claims 

is based on the theory that the DOC discriminated against him by denying access to a wheelchair 

accessible van for transportation.  

 The Eighth Amendment excessive force claim for money damages against the remaining 

individual defendants (Sgt. Wilson, Sgt. Cobb, Officer Harris and Major Russel) shall proceed. 

IV. Service of Process 

The clerk is designated, pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 4(c)(3), to issue and serve process on 

the defendants in the manner specified by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4(d)(1). Process shall consist of the 

amended complaint [dkt. 7], applicable forms and this Entry.  

 IT IS SO ORDERED. 

 

 

 

Date:  6/7/2016 

 

  



Distribution: 

 

RAYMOND STROMINGER  

160814  

PENDLETON CORRECTIONAL FACILITY  

Inmate Mail/Parcels  

4490 West Reformatory Road  

PENDLETON, IN 46064 

 

Sgt. Wilson, Sgt. Cobb, Officer Harris, and Major D. Russell 

c/o Lee Hoefling, Executive Assistant 

Wabash Valley Correctional Facility 

6908 S. Old U.S. Highway 41 

P.O. Box 500 

Carlisle , IN 47838 

 

Indiana Department of Correction 

302 W. Washington St.  Room E334 

Indianapolis, IN  46204 
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      No. 2:16-cv-00195-WTL-DKL 
 

 

 
Entry Granting In Forma Pauperis Status,  

Dismissing Insufficient Claims, and Directing Service of Process 
 

I. In Forma Pauperis 
 

            The plaintiff’s motion to proceed in forma pauperis [dkt. 2] is granted. The assessment 

of an initial partial filing fee is not feasible at this time. Notwithstanding the foregoing ruling, the 

plaintiff still owes the $350.00 filing fee. “All [28 U.S.C.] § 1915 has ever done is excuse pre-

payment of the docket fees; a litigant remains liable for them, and for other costs, although 

poverty may make collection impossible.” Abdul-Wadood v. Nathan, 91 F.3d 1023, 1025 (7th 

Cir. 1996). 

II. Screening 

A. Background 

The complaint is now subject to screening pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1915A(b). This statute 

directs that the Court dismiss a complaint or any claim within a complaint that “(1) is frivolous, 

malicious, or fails to state a claim upon which relief may be granted; or (2) seeks monetary relief 
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from a defendant who is immune from such relief.” Id. “A complaint is subject to dismissal for 

failure to state a claim if the allegations, taken as true, show the plaintiff is not entitled to relief.” 

Jones v. Bock, 549 U.S. 199, 215 (2007).   

Plaintiff Justin Edward Reedy (“Mr. Reedy”) is a pretrial detainee currently incarcerated 

at the Vigo County Jail. He brings claims against 1) Officer David Brewer; 2) Officer Toney; 3) 

Sgt. Sevigny; 4) County of Vigo; and 5) Terre Haute Police Department. He alleges violations of 

his Eighth and Fourteenth Amendment rights pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983. He seeks injunctive 

relief and compensatory and punitive damages.  

After leading Terre Haute police officers on a high speed chase at speeds exceeding 100 

miles per hour, with his girlfriend in the car, Mr. Reedy lost control of his car and ran into a 

ditch, striking a tree and getting stuck in the mud. Mr. Reedy and his girlfriend both said they 

needed medical attention. Mr. Reedy’s girlfriend was taken by “Transcare” to Regional Hospital, 

where she was diagnosed with a fractured sternum and fractured discs in her back. Officer David 

Brewer and Officer Toney said that Mr. Reedy should be taken to a hospital, but not the same 

hospital as his girlfriend because he wasn’t really hurt and he just wanted to see his girlfriend. 

Mr. Reedy was arrested and taken to Vigo County Jail to be seen by medical staff there.  

Mr. Reedy alleges that Officers Brewer and Toney violated his constitutional rights when 

they failed to provide him medical attention at the scene of the crime.  

B. Insufficient Claims  

The only allegation against Sgt. Sevigny is that he was one of the officers who conducted 

the felony stop when Mr. Reedy’s car finally stopped after it crashed. Without personal liability, 

there can be no recovery under 42 U.S.C. § 1983. Burks v. Raemisch, 555 F.3d 592, 593-94 (7th 

Cir. 2009) (“Section 1983 does not establish a system of vicarious responsibility. Liability 
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depends on each defendant’s knowledge and actions, not on the knowledge or actions of persons 

they supervise.”) (internal citation omitted). There are no allegations of wrongdoing alleged 

against Sgt. Sevigny. Therefore, any claim against Sgt. Sevigny is dismissed for failure to state 

a claim upon which relief can be granted.  

Mr. Reedy names the County of Vigo as a defendant. A county can be held liable for 

constitutional violations only when there is “an official policy or other governmental custom that 

not only causes but is the moving force behind the deprivation of constitutional rights.” Wilson v. 

Cook County, 742 F.3d 775, 779 (7th Cir. 2014) (internal quotation omitted). “[A] government 

agency may be liable when its official policy or custom inflicts the plaintiff’s injury.” Id. (citing 

Monell v. Dep’t of Soc. Servs., 436 U.S. 658, 694 (1978)). “But a municipality may not be held 

liable under § 1983 solely because it employs a tortfeasor.” Id. (internal quotation omitted). 

There are no allegations that a county custom or policy caused harm to Mr. Reedy. Therefore, 

the claim against Vigo County is dismissed for failure to state a claim upon which relief can 

be granted.  

The Terre Haute Police Department is not a suable entity. Sow v. Fortville Police Dept., 

636 F.3d 293, 300 (7th Cir. 2011). Therefore, any claim against the police department must be 

dismissed for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted. 

 Negligence or even gross negligence is not enough to state a claim under § 1983. Harper 

v. Albert, 400 F.3d 1052, 1065 (7th Cir. 2005). At the time of his claim, Mr. Reedy was an 

arrestee, which is governed by the Fourth Amendment. Lopez v. City of Chicago, 464 F.3d 711, 

719 (7th Cir. 2006). The Fourth Amendment’s “objectively reasonable” standard applies to 

medical claims brought by arrestees. Currie v. Chhabra, 728 F.3d 626, 629-30 (7th Cir. 2013); 

Ortiz v. City of Chicago, 656 F.3d 523, 530 (7th Cir. 2011). Mr. Reedy’s Fourteenth Amendment 
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equal protection and Eighth Amendment claims add nothing of substance. Constitutional claims 

are to be addressed under the most applicable provision. See Conyers v. Abitz, 416 F.3d 580, 586 

(7th Cir. 2005). The Fourteenth and Eighth Amendment claims are dismissed for failure to 

state a claim upon which relief can be granted. 

 No partial final judgment shall issue at this time as to the claims that are dismissed in 

this Entry. 

C.  Claims That Shall Proceed 

The Fourth Amendment claims that Officers David Brewer and Toney failed to act 

reasonably with regard to Mr. Reedy’s need for medical attention shall proceed.  

III. Directing Service of Process

The clerk is designated pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 4(c) to issue process to Officer David 

Brewer and Officer Toney in the manner specified by Rule 4(d). Process shall consist of the 

complaint filed on June 2, 2016 (docket 1), applicable forms (Notice of Lawsuit and Request for 

Waiver of Service of Summons and Waiver of Service of Summons), and this Entry.  

The clerk shall update the docket to reflect the dismissal of all defendants other than 

Officer Brewer and Officer Toney.  

IT IS SO ORDERED. 

Date:  6/8/16 

NOTE TO CLERK:  PROCESSING THIS DOCUMENT REQUIRES ACTIONS IN ADDITION TO DOCKETING AND DISTRIBUTION. 

 
      _______________________________ 

       Hon. William T. Lawrence, Judge 
       United States District Court 
       Southern District of Indiana 
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JUSTIN EDWARD REEDY 
VIGO COUNTY JAIL 
201 Cherry Street 
Terre Haute, IN 47807 
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Terre Haute Police Department  
1211 Wabash Ave. 
Terre Haute, IN 47807 
 
Officer Toney, #246 
Terre Haute Police Department  
1211 Wabash Ave. 
Terre Haute, IN 47807 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF INDIANA 

TERRE HAUTE DIVISION 

 

RICKY CROWDER, )  

 )  

 Plaintiff, )  

  )  

v.  ) Case No. 2:14-cv-202-JMS-MJD 

  )  

LARIVA, et al., )  

  )  

 Defendants. )  

 

Entry Discussing Amended Complaint and Directing Further Proceedings 

 Plaintiff Ricky Crowder, an inmate at the Federal Correctional Institution in Terre Haute, 

Indiana, brings this action alleging the violation of his civil rights based on the denial of his 

requested kosher meals. He has filed an amended complaint, which is treated as a motion to amend. 

As so treated, the motion is granted. The amended complaint supersedes the original complaint 

and is subject to the screening requirement of 28 U.S.C. § 1915A(b).  

I. Screening of the Amended Complaint 

 Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1915A, “[a] complaint is subject to dismissal for failure to state a 

claim if the allegations, taken as true, show that plaintiff is not entitled to relief.” Jones v. Bock, 

127 S. Ct. 910, 921 (2007). Based on this screening, certain claims will proceed while others will 

be dismissed. 

First, Crowder’s claim brought pursuant to the Religious Freedom Restoration Act, 42 

U.S.C. § 2000bb-1 (“RFRA”),1 that his religious rights have been denied through the denial of 

kosher meals shall proceed against defendants Warden Lariva, Assistant Warden Oliver, Chalpain 

Holston, and Chaplain Jones. His First Amendment claim brought pursuant to the theory 

                                            
1 In the Amended Complaint, Crowder asserts this claim under the Religious Land Use and Institutionalized Persons 

Act, 42 U.S.C. § 2000cc, but because he is a federal inmate, the RFRA is applicable to his claims. 
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recognized in Bivens v. Six Unknown Federal Narcotics Agents, 403 U.S. 38 (1971), that this denial 

has curtailed his right to freely exercise his religion shall also proceed against defendants Warden 

Lariva, Assistant Warden Oliver, Chalpain Holston, and Chaplain Jones. 

  Any claim against defendants Warden Caraway, Chaplain Woods, Regional Director Paul 

M. Laird, and Central Office Director is dismissed because the plaintiff has not alleged sufficient 

facts that these defendants personally participated in any of the alleged deprivations to raise the 

right to relief above a speculative level. See Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 676 (2009) (“Because 

vicarious liability is inapplicable to Bivens . . . suits, a plaintiff must plead that each 

Government-official defendant, through the official's own individual actions, has violated the 

Constitution.”). This is the case even if these defendants rejected administrative complaints 

regarding the plaintiff’s allegations. George v. Smith, 507 F.3d 605, 609 (7th Cir. Cir. 2007) (“Only 

persons who cause or participate in the violations are responsible”; an official “who rejects an 

administrative complaint about a completed act of misconduct does not [cause or contribute to the 

violation]”).  

 Any claim based on alleged unconstitutional policy and practices involving the FCI Terre 

Haute administrative review process is dismissed because a prison may use any process or no 

process at all in dealing with inmate complaints. See Antonelli v. Sheahan, 81 F.3d 1422, 1430 

(7th Cir. 1996) (“a state’s inmate grievance procedures do not give rise to a liberty interest 

protected by the Due Process Clause”). 

 Any claim brought pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §§ 1985 or 1986 is dismissed because those 

statutes are intended to “permit recovery from a private actor who has conspired with state actors.” 

When, as here, the defendants are all federal actors, “a § 1985(3) claim does not add anything 

except needless complexity.” See Fairley v. Andrews, 578 F.3d 518, 526 (7th Cir. 2009). 
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 Any Equal Protection and Eighth Amendment claims related to the plaintiff’s allegation 

that he has been denied kosher meals is dismissed because his First Amendment free-exercise 

claim arises under the First Amendment and gains nothing by additional constitutional labels. See 

Conyers v. Abitz, 416 F.3d 580, 586 (7th Cir. 2005) (citing Graham v. Connor, 490 U.S. 386, 395 

(1989). 

 Any claim against the United States is dismissed because the plaintiff has not alleged any 

basis for the waiver of the United States’ sovereign immunity for his claims. See FDIC v. Meyer, 

510 U.S. 471, 475 (1994)(“Absent a waiver, sovereign immunity shields the Federal Government 

and its agencies from suit.”). 

II. Further Proceedings 

In summary, the following claims shall proceed:  

 Crowder’s claim brought pursuant to RFRA that his religious rights have been denied 

through the denial of kosher meals shall proceed against defendants Warden Lariva, 

Assistant Warden Oliver, Chaplain Holston, and Chaplain Jones;  

 Crowder’s First Amendment claim brought pursuant to the theory recognized in Bivens v. 

Six Unknown Federal Narcotics Agents, 403 U.S. 38 (1971), that this denial has curtailed 

his right to freely exercise his religion shall also proceed against defendants Warden 

Lariva, Assistant Warden Oliver, Chaplain Holston, and Chaplain Jones. 

Defendants Jones and Holston have already appeared in this action. They shall have 

through June 15, 2015 in which to answer the Amended Complaint. 

The clerk is designated, pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 4(c)(2), to issue process to defendants 

Lariva and Oliver. Process shall consist of a summons. Because the plaintiff is proceeding under 

the theory recognized in Bivens v. Six Unknown Named Agents of Federal Bureau of Narcotics, 
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403 U.S. 388 (1971), personal service is required. Robinson v. Turner, 15 F.3d 82 (7th Cir. 1994). 

The Marshal for this District or his Deputy shall serve the summons, together with a copy of the 

amended complaint, and a copy of this Entry, on the defendants and on the officials designated 

pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 4(i)(2), at the expense of the United States.  

 IT IS SO ORDERED. 

 

 

Date: _________________  

Distribution: 

Ricky Crowder 

15807-039 

Terre Haute FCI 

P.O. Box 33 
Terre Haute, IN 47808 

All electronically registered counsel 

United States Marshal 

05/12/2015 
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 SUGGESTED FORM OF PRISONER-CLIENT ENGAGEMENT LETTER 
Note: this form is a suggestion.  Each attorney should determine what is appropriate. 
 [letterhead with attorney’s name, address, etc] 
 
 [date] 
 
CONFIDENTIAL ATTORNEY- 
CLIENT COMMUNICATION 
[name Reg. #______] 
[address of prison] 
 
    Re: [name of attorney] Engagement letter 
 
Dear [name of client], 
 
  Per our conversation, I am sending you this letter to provide you with my address and 
telephone number.  This letter also identifies my role and responsibilities with regard to my 
representation of you in this matter. 
 
 1.  Scope of services.  The United States District Court for the Southern District of 
Indiana has appointed me to provide legal services to you in the following matter: 
 
_______, plaintiff, v. __________, defendant(s), Case #______in the United States 
District Court for the Southern District of Indiana. 
 
 I will act as your counsel in this case for the claims that are stated in your pro se 
complaint or which arise out of the facts set forth in your pro se complaint. 
 
 My services will continue while the case is pending in the United States District Court.  
Once the case ends in that court, my representation of you will end.  I will not undertake an 
appeal to a higher court, like the United States Court of Appeals for the Seventh Circuit, if an 
appeal becomes necessary. 
 
 In addition, I will not undertake to represent you on matters or claims unrelated to the 
matters set forth in your pro se complaint or any other matter or request unrelated to 
representation of you in the legal case for which the Court appointed me. 
 
 Other attorneys in my Firm [if this is the case] may assist me in this case; but each 
such attorney will be acting under my supervision with my knowledge and approval. 
 
 2.  My responsibility as your appointed lawyer.  All legal services that I furnish to 
you will be performed in compliance with the governing code of professional conduct.  I will 
keep you reasonably informed of the progress and developments with the respect to the legal 



 

 

services I am performing for you and will promptly comply with reasonable requests from 
you for information relating to the case I am handling for you. 
 
 As your case progresses, we may reach certain points where important decisions have 
to be made. If we come to one of those points, I will inform you of your options and provide 
you with my advice and opinion so that we can work together to agree upon the best decision 
for you to make. 
 
 As the Court issues orders on significant legal issues that have been raised by either 
party (plaintiff or defendant), I will inform you of those orders and what effects they might 
have on your case.  
 
 From time to time, you may request a legal opinion from me, or I may render an 
opinion on my own without your request, regarding the progress or status of the case or the 
performance of my legal services on your behalf.  Each such opinion is necessarily limited by 
my knowledge of the facts at the time and is based on the state of the law at the time of such 
opinion or statement.  Please keep in mind that any attorney’s opinion, including my own, is 
not a guarantee of a particular outcome or the results of the legal proceeding. 
 
 Please note that I will not accept collect telephone calls from you, unless we have 
made prior arrangements with the prison legal liaison for a secure attorney-client call. 
 
  3.  Duties of the client. Your cooperation is required in order for me to provide the 
legal services called for in this agreement.  You have agreed to fully cooperate with me with 
respect to the legal services to be provided by me or my associates [if any]. 
 
 4.  Professional Fees and Expenses.  
 
 [This is a matter of negotiation between client and attorney.  For example, a 
contingency fee with the contingency to be calculated on balance after reimbursement 
of costs or before?  If case is lost, no charge for services rendered and no reimbursement 
of costs] 
  
 If the case goes to trial and is successful, then attorney’s fees and costs will be 
governed by the applicable provisions of the Prisoner Litigation Reform Act. 
 
 5. Review this agreement, sign the copy and return to me.  Should you have any 
questions about any of the terms of this agreement, please contact me.  If you agree with the 
terms proposed in this document, please sign and deliver back to me the copy.  I have enclosed 
a self-addressed envelope for your convenience.  Please keep the original. 
 
      Sincerely yours, 
 



 

 

         ____________________ 
          [Appointed attorney] 
 
THE ABOVE AGREEMENT 
IS ACCEPTED AND AGREED TO. 
 
 
       
[client’s name] 
 
 
     
Date 
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